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LLP RG BRANDS KAZAKHSTAN

STATEMENT OF MANAGEMENT'S RESPONSIBILITIES
FOR THE PREPARATION AND APPROVAL OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2021

Management is responsible for the preparation of the financial statements that present fairly the financial
position of the LLP RG Brands Kazakhstan ("the Company") as at 31 December 2021, and the results of its
operations, cash flows and changes in equity for the year then ended, in compliance with International
Financial Reporting Standards ("IFRS").

In preparing the financial statements, management is responsible for:

. Properly selecting and applying accounting policies;

. Presenting information, including accounting pelicies, in a manner that provides relevant, reliable,
comparable and understandable information;

. Providing additional disclosures when compliance with the specific requirements in IFRSs are
insufficient to enable users to understand the impact of particular transactions, other events and
conditions on the Company's financial position and financial performance; and

. Making an assessment of the Company’s ability to continue as a going concern.

Management is also responsible for:

*  Designing, implementing and maintaining an effective and sound system of internal controls
throughout the Company:

. Maintaining adequate accounting records that are sufficient to show and explain the Company's
transactions and disclose, with reasonable accuracy at any time, the financial position of the
Company, and which enable them to ensure that the financial statements of the Company comply
with IFRS;

® Maintaining statutory accounting records in compliance with legislation of the Republic of
Kazakhstan and IFRS;

) Taking such steps as are reasonably available to them to safeguard the assets of the Company; and

e  Preventing and detecting fraud and other irregularities.

The financial statements of the Company for the year ended 31 December 2021 were approved by
management an 5 May 2022,

Malkovskaya Q. V.
Chief Accountant

5 May 2022
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] Dweloitte LLP
36 Al Farabl Avenue
i Almaty, 050059
Republic of Karakhstan
Tel: «7 [727) 258 13 40
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deloitte kz

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT
To the Sole Participant of RG Brands Kazakhstan Limited Liability Partnership:
Opinion

We have audited the financial statements of LLP RG Brands Kazakhstan (“the Company”),
which comprise the statement of financial position as at 31 December 2021, and the
statement of profit or loss and comprehensive income, statement of changes in equity and
statement of cash flows for the year ended 31 December 2021, and notes to the financial
statements, including a summary of significant accounting policies.

In our opinion, the accompanying financial statements present fairly, in all material respects,
the financial position of the Company as at 31 December 2021, and its financial
performance and its cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with International
Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRSs”).

Basis for Opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (“ISAs").
Our responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s
Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements section of our report. We are
independent of the Company in accordance with the International Ethics Standards Board
for Accountants’ Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (the "IESBA Code”) together
with the ethical requirements that are relevant to our audit of the financial statements in
the Republic of Kazakhstan, and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in
accordance with these requirements and the IESBA Code. We believe that the audit
evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

Key Audit Matter

Key audit matter is a matter that, in our professional judgment, were of most significance in
our audit of the financial statements of the current period. This matter was addressed in the
context of our audit of the financial statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion
thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on this matter.

Delaitte refers to one of more of Delaitte Touche Tohmatsu Limited (“0TTL"], its global network of merber firms, and their related
entses (collectvely, the “Deloite organization”), DTTL [also referred to as “Deloitte Global™) and each of its member fiems and related
entitees are legally separate and independent entities, which cannst obligate or bind each other in respect of third parties. DTTL and each
DTTL member firm and related entity 5 Table anly for 5 own acts and cmissions, and not those of each other. DTTL does not provide
services to dients. Plesse sevr www. deloitte comfabout to learn more

02022 Delpitte LLP. Al rights rederved



Compliance with loan covenants

As stated in Note 20 to the financial
statements, as at 31 December 2021 the
carrying amount of long-term loans received
by the Company was 31,596,781 thousand
tenge. Herewith all long-term loan
agreements contain different covenant
clauses covering performance indicators of
the parent company RG Brands JSC and its
subsidiaries. In case of a covenant breach,
the lenders receive the right to demand early
repayment of the loan amount.

As at the reporting date, loan agreements
contained a significant number of different
clauses, which makes it difficult to track
compliance and increases the risks
associated with the correct classification of
borrowings in the financial statements. Also,
breach of clauses of one loan agreement
may lead to cross-default for other loan
agreements.

Due to the materiality of the carrying
amount of the long-term loans, as well as
the direct impact of compliance with the
terms of the agreements on liquidity and
financial position of the Company, we have
identified this issue as a key audit matter.

We obtained an understanding of the internal
processes and control procedures of the Company
related to monitoring of compliance with clauses
included in the loan agreements.

We reviewed the register of loan agreements and
carried out procedures to confirm its completeness,
including reviewing the minutes of the board of
directors.

We reviewed all of the Company's long-term loan
agreements outstanding as at 31 December 2021
and obtained an understanding of the clauses of the
agreements, including the clauses that may lead to
cross-default.

We recalculated the financial covenants and
compared the results with those prepared by the
Company.

We ensured that the classification of the loans
presented in the financial statements as

at 31 December 2021 as current or non-current was
correct, as well as the completeness and correctness
of disclosures of the financial statements in relation
to compliance with the financial covenants of long-
term loan agreements.




Other Information

Management is responsible for the other information. The other information comprises the

information included in the annual report, but does not include the financial statements and
our auditor’s report thereon. The annual report is expected to be made available to us after
the date of this auditor's report.

Qur opinion on the financial statements does not cover the other information and we do not
and we will not express any form of assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the financial statements, our responsibility is to read the
other information identified above when it becomes available and, in doing so, consider
whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the financial statements or
our knowledge obtained in the audit, or otherwise appears to be materially misstated.

When we read the annual report, if we conclude that there is a material misstatement
therein, we are required to communicate the matter to those charged with governance.

Responsibilities of Management and Those Charged with Governance for the Financial
Statements

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the financial
statements in accordance with IFRSs, and for such internal control as management
determines is necessary to enable the preparation of the financial statements that are free
from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the financial statements, management is responsible for assessing the
Company’s ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related
to going concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless management either
intends to liquidate the Company or to cease aperations, or has no realistic alternative but
to do so.

Those charged with governance are responsible for ove rseeing the Company’s financial
reporting process.

Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements
as a whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue
an auditor’s report that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of
assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with ISAs will
always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or
error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably
be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these
financial statements.



As part of an audit in accordance with 154, we exercise professional judgment and maintain
professional skepticism throughout the audit. We also:

L] Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements,
whether due to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to
those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide
a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement re sulting
from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion,
forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

*  Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design
audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of
expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Company’s internal control.

*  Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of
accounting estimates and related disclosures made by management.

*  Conclude on the appropriateness of management's use of the going concern basis of
accounting and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty
exists related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Company’s
ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists,
we are required to draw attention in our auditor's report to the related disclosures in
the financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion.
Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our
auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions may cause the Company to
cease to continue as a going concern,

*  Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial statements,
including the disclosures, and whether the financial statements represent
the underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters,
the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any
significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify during our audit.

We also provide those charged with governance with a statement that we have complied
with relevant ethical requirements regarding independence, and to communicate with them
all relationships and other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our
independence, and where applicable, related safeguards.



From the matters communicated with those charged with governance, we determine those
matters that were of most significance in the audit of the financial statements of the current
period, and are therefore the key audit matters. We describe these matters in our auditor's
report unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, in
extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should not be communicated in
our report because the adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably be expected to
outweigh the public interest benefits of such communication.

||.- ..t. I._ . |
Olga Belono Zhangir Zhilysbayey.”. /
Engagement Pagtner__—~ Genetal Dirg Ly
Qualified Auditor ™ Deloitté-Lp- ' =

of the Republic of Kazakhstan

Qualification Certificate State license for audit activities
Mo. MF-0000865 in the Republic of Kazakhstan
dated 13 August 2019 No.0000015,type MFU-2,

issued by the Ministry of Finance
of the Republic of Kazakhstan
dated 13 September 2006

5 May 2022
Almaty, Republic of Kazakhstan



LLP RG BRANDS KAZAKHSTAN

STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2021
(in thousands of Tenge)

MNote 2021 2020

Revenue 5 96,468,270 72,685,764
Cost of sales & {55,877,357) (40,403,344)
Gross profit 40,590,913 32,282,420
Selling expenses 7 {23,529,114) (24,134,344)
General and administrative expenses B (5,546,886) (4,556,301)
OPERATING PROFIT 11,514,913 3,591,775
Finance costs 9 (4,110,718) (3,272,843)
Fareign exchange gain, net 15 33,307 2,921,206
Investment gain/{loss), net 364,256 (194,797}
Other income 181,274 8,544
Profit before tax 7,983,032 3,054,885
Income tax expense 10 (1,443,958) {1,176,442)
PROFIT FOR THE YEAR 6,539,074 1,878,443
Other comprehensive income, net of income tax
ltems that will not be reclossified subsequently to profit or loss:
Gain on revaluation of property, plant and equipment 11 3,556,524
Fair value loss on investment in equity instrument designated as at fair

value through other comprehensive income {754,579)
Other comprehensive income for the year, net of income tax 2,801,945
TOTAL COMPREHEMSIVE INCOME FOR THE YEAR 6,539,074 4,680,388

Agybaev A, Y. Malkovskaya 0. V.
Chief Executive Office = Chief Accountant
5 May 2022 5 May 2022
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The notes on pages 12 to 56 form au}ﬁfjrai part of these financial statements.



LLP RG BRANDS KAZAKHSTAN

STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

AS AT 31 DECEMBER 2021

(in thousands of Tenge)
31 December 31 December
MNote 2021 2020

ASSETS
MON-CURRENT ASSETS:
Property, plant and equipment 11 26,922,074 26,171,256
Investment property 53,037 53,037
Advances paid 12 2,006,213 1,507,604
Right-of-use assets 206,077 41,786
intangible assets 78,787 95,940
Total non-current assets 29,266,188 27,869,623
CURRENT ASSETS:
Inventory 12 18,006,252 8,679,266
Trade accounts receivable 14 2,120,470 1,512,670
Advances pald 12 3,396,173 1,558,801
Other financial assets 15 32,764,111 32,490,057
Other current assets 16 1,258,192 1,171,077
Bank deposits 18 1,320,346 671,408
Cash and cash equivalents 17 5,952,084 7,137,503

64,817 628 53,220,782
Assets classified as held for sale = 1,929
Total current assets 64,817 628 53,222,711
TOTAL ASSETS 94,083,816 81,092,334
EQUITY AND LIABILITIES
EQUITY;
lssued capital 19 1,132,130 1,132,130
Reserves 4,150,593 4,804,450
Retained earnings 12,578,076 16,039,669
Total equity 17,861,199 21,976,245
NOMN-CLIRRENT LIABILITIES:
Borrowings 20 31,596,781 19,108,565
Accounts Payable 21 936,048 869,820
Deferred tax liabilities 10 3,814,710 4,117,981
Deferred income 24 963,991 1,023,521
Lease liability 47,472 131,089
Total non-current liabilities 37,359,002 25132976




LLP RG BRANDS KAZAKHSTAN

STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION (CONTINUED)

AS AT 31 DECEMBER 2021
{in thousands of Tenge)
31 December 31 December

MNote 2021 2020
CURREMT LIABILITIES:
Accounts payable 21 19,031,258 14,056,328
Borrowings 20 8,525,074 13,789,873
Lease liability 157 4594 34,711
Corporate income tax payable 296,881 -
Taxes payable 22 1,527,295 763,127
Deferred income 24 1,609,994 513,843
Other accounts payable and accrued liabilities 23 7,715,619 4,825,421
Total current liabilities 38,863,615 33,983,109
TOTAL EQUITY AND LIABILITIES 94,083,816 81,092,334

On behalf of Compa

f
Agybaev A, Y. |
Chief Executive

5 May 2022 gy e
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A

=

(A

Malkowskaya O. V.
Chief Accountant

5 May 2022

The notes on pages 13 to 56 form an integral part of these financial statements.



LLP RG BRANDS KAZAKHSTAN

STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2021

(in thousands of Tenge)
Property, plant
and equipment Investment
Issued revaluation revaluation Retained Total
capital reserve reserve earnings equity

As at 1 January 2020 1,132,130 3,664,193 (2,629,198) 15,128,736 17,295,861
Profit for the year 1,878,443 1,E78,443
Other comprehensive income,

net of income tax 3,556,524 {754,579) 2,801,945
Total comprehensive income for

the year - 3,556,524 {754,579) 1,878,443 4,680,388
Transfer to retained earnings - [2.416,267) 3,383,777 {967,510)
As at 31 December 2020 1,132,130 4,804,450 . 16,039,669 21,976,249
Praofit for the year 6,539,074 6,539,074
Other comprehensive income,

net of iIncome tax
Profit and total comprehensive

income for the year - - - 6,539,074 6,539,074
Dividends declared (Note 19) (9,900,041) (9,900,041)
Adjustments to fair value of the

debt of ISC RG Brands (Note 15) - - (754,083) (754,083)
Transfer to retained earnings (853,457) - 653,457 -
As at 31 December 2021 1,132,130 4,150,993 - 12,578,076 17,861,199

On behalf of Compa

Agybaev A. ¥, Jn
Chief Executive Officer

5 May 2022
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The notes on pages 13 to 56 form an integral part of these financial statements.
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Malkovskaya 0. V.
Chief Accountant

3 May 2022



LLP RG BRANDS KAZAKHSTAN

STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMRBER 2021
fin thousands of Tenge)
MNote 2021 2020

OPERATING ACTIVITIES:
Profit before tax 7,983,032 3,054,885
Adjustments for;
Depreciation and amartization 6 7.8 2,312,860 2,095,019
Finance costs 4 4,110,718 3,272,843
Foreign exchange gain, net {33,307) (2,921,206)
Loss from disposal of property, plant and equipment 331,700 57,777
Reimbursement of selling expenses incurred without cash settlement {295,570) (415,385)
Investment (gain)floss, net {364,256) 194,797
Waste goods write-off and write-off of materials 7.8 222,483 263,306
Acerual of provision for impairment of Inventory g 2,252 8,652
Accrualf/(recovery)/ of provision for vacation and other estimated

EXPENSES 11E,100 (47.,510)
Accrual of provision for doubtful debrs 8 76,667 5,140
Loss on revaluation of property, plant and equipment 11 - 440,813
Other income {67,321}
Operating cash flows before movements in working capital 14,464,679 5,941,830
Change in inventories (9,545, 791) {1,440,019)
Change in trade accounts receivable {677,199) 354,000
Change in advances paid (1,823,372) 39,879
Change in other current assets (218,064) 611,414
Change in accounts payable 5,640,638 3,778,304
Change in taxes payable 764,169 (170,605)
Change in other accounts payable and accrued liabilities 2,771,703 1,007,914

11,372,763 10,162,717

Change in long-term advances paid (713,727] (1,214,810)
Cash from operations 10,659,036 8,947,907
Interest paid (4,840,033) (3,880,476)
Income tax paid (1,450,347) {954,750)
Wet cash generated by operating activities 4,368,656 4,112,681

11




LLP RG BRANDS KAZAKHSTAN

STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS (CONTINUED)
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2021
fin thousands of Tenge)

INVESTING ACTIVITIES:

Purchase of property, plant and equipment and intangible assets

Proceeds on disposal of property, plant and equipment, intangible assets

and investment property
Praceeds on sale of other financial assets
Purchaze of other financial assets
Interest recelved
Money placed to bank deposit

Net cash used in investing activities

FINAMNCING ACTIVITIES:

Proceeds from borrowings

Repayment of borrowings

Dividends paid

Issuance of bonds

Repayment of bonds

Repayment of loans from related parties
Repayment on lease liability

Met cash (used in)/generated by financing activities

MET (DECREASE)/INCREASE IN CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS, at the beginning of the year

Effect of changes in foreign exchange rates in relation to cash
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS, at the end of the year

Chief Executive

5 May 2022 Wpyrea Rt
L

e

Note 2021 2020

(2,611,287) (2.266,261)

1,008 894,479

68,929,378 56,717,151

(69,444,594) (58,171,591)

80,388 =

(632,223)

(3,677,330 {2,826,222)

20 23,410,358 26,422,090
20 (15,366,537} {22,555,494)
15 {9,500,041) -
25 8,500,000 -
25 (8,500,000) -
25 - {590,405)
(7,123) (41,032)

{1,863,343) 3,235,159

{1,172,017) 4,521,618

17 7,137,502 2,222,358
(13,402) 393,530

17 5,952,084 7,137,503

(A

Malkovskaya 0. V.
Chief Accountant

5 May 2022

The notes on pages 13 to 56 farm an integral part of these financial statements.
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LLP RG BRANDS KAZAKHSTAN

MNOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2020
(in thousands of Tenge, unless otherwise stated)

1.

GENERAL INFORMATION

The principal activity of LLP «RG Brands Kazakhstan» (“the Company”) is the production, sale and
distribution of juices, carbonated soft and energy drinks, milk, bottled drinking water, packed tea.
The Company’s operations are primarily in the Republic of Kazakhstan.

The Company performs the following types of activity:

*  production of juices under trademarks "Gracio”, “Da-Da” and “Nektar Solnechnyi”;

*  production of carbonated soft drinks under trademarks “Pepsi”, “Seven -Up”, “Mirinda” and
“Nektar Solnechnyi Gazirovannyi”;

packing, distribution and sale of tea under brand “Piala” processed from imported raw tea;

. production of ultra-pasteurized milk under the “Moye" trademark;

*  production of bottled drinking water under trademark “A’SU";

= production of cold tea under trademarks “Piala Ice Tea” and “Lipton Ice Tea”;

*  production of energetic drink “Yeti":

s sale and distribution on the territory of the Republic of Kazakhstan and close-bordering
countries products of the Company.

Ownership of the Company

LLP RG Brands Kazakhstan was registered on 4 April 2006 in accordance with the legislation of the
Republic of Kazakhstan, the state registration certificate No768 12-1910-TOO.

As at 31 December 2021 and 2020, the single participant of the Company is JSC RG Brands, it is also
the highest governing body, and it issues financial statements for public use. The ultimate
controlling party of the Company is Mr. Mazhibayev K.K.

The legal and actual address of the Company: 212 B, Raimbek ave., Almaty, Republic of Ka zakhstan,
050034.

As at 31 December 2021 and 2020, the number of employees was 1,195 and 1,152, respectively.
Bottling agreements with Pepsi and Seven-Up International

The Company operates its carbonated soft drinks production under an exclusive bottling
appointment agreement, concluded between the Company and Pepsico Inc. and between the
Company and Seven-Up International. Under these agreements, RG Brands Kazakhstan received the

rights for bottling, sale and distribution of PepsiCo and Seven-Up products in Kazakhstan until
31 December 2018. In 2018, the agreement was automatically extended till December 31, 2025.

13



LLP RG BRANDS KAZAKHSTAN

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2021

(in thousands of Tenge, unless otherwise stated)

2.

ADOPTION OF NEW AND REVISED STANDARDS

New and amended IFRS Standards that are effective for the current year

In the current year, the Company has applied the below amendments to IFRS Standards and
interpretations issued by the International Accounting Standards Board (“IASB") that are effective
for an annual period that begins on or after 1 January 2021. Their adoption has not had any
significant impact on the disclosures or on the amounts reported in these financial statements.

L] Amendments to IFRS 9, IAS 39, IFRS 7, IFRS 4 and IFRS 16 - Interest rate benchmark {IBOR)
reform. Phose 2;

. Amendments to IFRS 16 Extension of practical expedient from assessing whether a COVID-19
related rent concession is a lease modification.

The application of the new standards and interpretations did not lead to significant changes in the
Company's accounting policies affecting the reporting data for the current and prior periods.

New and revised IFRS Standards in issue but not yet effective

At the date of authorisation of these financial statements, the Company has not applied the
following new and revised IFRS Standards that have been issued but are not yet effective:

Description of the standard and interpretation Applicable to annual periods
beginning on or after

IFR% 17 {including the June 2020 Amendments to IFRS 17} Insuronce

Contracts 1 January 2023
Amendments to IFRS 10 and 1AS 28 Sale or Contribution of Assets hetween an

Investor and its Associate or Joint Venture Date to be determined by the 1ASE
Amendments to 145 1 Classification of Lishilities os Current or Non-current 1 January 2023
Amendments to IFRS 3 Reference to the Conceptual Framewerk 1January 2022
Amendments to 1AS 16 Property, Plant and Equipment—Proceeds before

Intended Use 1 Januvary 2022
Amendments to I1AS 37 Onerous Contracts — Cost of Fulfilling o Contract 1 January 2022

Annual Improvements to IFRS Standards 2018-2020 Cycle Amendments to
IFRS 1 First-time Adaption of International Financial Reporting Standords,

IFRS 8 Financial Instruments, IFRS 16 Leases, and 1AS 41 Agriculture 1 January 2022
Amendments to 1AS 1 and IFRS Practice Statement 2

Dizclosure of Accounting Policies 1 January 2023
Amendments to IAS B Definition of Accounting Estimates 1 lanuary 2023
Amendments to IAS 12 Deferred Tax reloted to Assets and Liobilities arising

from a Single Transaction 1 January 2023

Management of the Company believes that these amendments will not have a significant impact on
the financial statements of the Company in the next periods.

14



LLP RG BRANDS KAZAKHSTAN

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2021

(in thousands of Tenge, unless otherwise stated)

3.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
Statement of compliance

These financial statements have been prepared in accordance with International Financial
Reporting Standards (“IFRS”).

Basis of preparation

These financial statements have been prepared on the historical cost basis, except for certain
financial instruments and other groups of Property, Plant and Equipment (land, buildings and
constructions, machinery and equipment) and investment property, which are measured at fair
value or at revalued amounts, as explained in the accounting policies below. Historical cost is
generally based on the fair value of the consideration Biven in exchange for assets.

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an
orderly transaction between market participants at the measurement date, regardless of whether
that price is directly observable or estimated using another valuation technique. In estimating the
fair value of an asset or a liability, the Company takes into account the characteristics of the asset
or liability if market participants would take those characteristics inte account when assessing the
asset or liability at the measurement date. Fair value for measurement and/or disclosure purposes
in these financial statements is determined on such a basis, and measurements that have some
similarities to fair value but are not fair value, such as net realisable value in 1AS 2 or value in use in
I1AS 36.

In addition, for financial reporting purposes, fair value measurements are categorised into Level 1,
2 or 3 based on the degree to which the inputs to the fair value measurements are observable and
the significance of the inputs to the fair value measurement in its entirety, which are described as
follows:

*  Level 1inputs - are quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or
liabilities that the entity can access at the measurement date H

. Level 2 inputs - are inputs, other than quoted prices included within Level 1, that are
observable for the asset or liability, either directly or indire ctly; and

*  Level 3 inputs - are unobservable inputs for the asset or lia bility.

Going concern

These financial statements have been prepared on a going concern basis, which assumes the
realization of the Company’s assets and discharge of its liabilities in the normal course of business
within the foreseeable future.

As at the date of approval of these financial statements, management of the Company reasonably
believes that the Company has the necessary resources to continue operating in the foreseeahble
future. Therefore, the financial statements have been prepared on a going concern basis.

15



LLP RG BRANDS KAZAKHSTAN

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2021
(in thousands of Tenge, unless otherwise stated)

The principal accounting policies are set out below
Segmental reporting

Based on the information contained in the internal reports, which are reviewed by key
management responsible for decision making on operational activity for the purpose of allocation
of resources to segments and assessment of operational results, the Company identifies the
following operating segments, which are: own brands: juices and beverages; own brands: packed
tea, packed milk and food products; and wholesale activity. The chief operating decision-maker has
been identified as the Company’s Chief Executive Officer.

The Company maonitors multiple profitability such as: profit before tax, profit for the year and gross
profit. Despite this, profit for the year is the measure reported to the operating decision makers for
the purposes of resource allocation and assessment of segment performance.

Foreign currency transactions

The financial statements are expressed in Kazakhstani Tenge (“Tenge” or “KZT"), which is the
functional currency of the Company.

In preparing the financial statements transactions in currencies other than the entity’s functional
currency, tenge, are recorded at the rates of exchange prevailing at the transaction dates. At each
reporting date, monetary items denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated at the rates
prevailing at the reporting date. Non-monetary items measured at historical cost in a foreign
currency are not retranslated.

Exchange differences are recognised in the statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive
income in the period in which they arise, except for exchange differences which relate to assets
under construction for future productive use, which are included in the cost of those assets when
they are regarded as an adjustment to interest costs on foreign currency borrowings.

The following table presents rates of exchange as at 31 December:

2021 2020
US Dollars 4318 42091
Eurg 489.1 516.79
Russian Roubles 576 2.62
Chinese Yuans 63 64.36

Revenue recognition

Revenue is estimated based on the consideration to which the Company is expected to be entitled
in accordance with terms of a contract with a customer. The transaction price is the amount of
consideration to which the Company expects to be entitled in exchange for transferring promised
goods to a customer, excluding amounts collected on behalf of third parties (for example, value
added taxes).
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The Company recognises revenue when the entity satisfies a performance obligation by transferring
a control over goods. Revenue is recognized when the goods are shipped to distributors. The asset
is transferred when the customer obtains control of that asset. The performance obligation is
satisfied at a point in time, at which all the following conditions are satisfied:

e The Company has a present right to payment for the asset;

*  The customer has legal title to the asset;

*  The entity has transferred physical possession of the asset;

s The customer has the significant risks and rewards of ownership of the asset;
®  The customer has accepted the asset,

Leases

The Company as lessee

The Company assesses whether a contract is or contains a lease, at inception of the contract. The
Company recognises a right-of-use asset and a corresponding lease liability with respect to all lease
arrangements in which it is the lessee, except for short-term leases (defined as leases with a lease
term of 12 months or less) and leases of low value assets (such as tablets and personal computers,
small items of office furniture and telephones). For these leases, the Company recognises the lease
payments as an operating expense on a straight-line basis over the term of the lease unless another
systematic basis is more representative of the time pattern in which economic benefits from the
leased assets are consumed.

The lease liability is initially measured at the present value of the lease payments that are not paid
at the commencement date, discounted by using the rate implicit in the lease. If this rate cannot be
readily determined, the Company uses its incremental borrowing rate.

Lease payments included in the measurement of the lease liability comprise:

*  Fixed lease payments (including in-substance fixed payments), less any lease incentives
receivable;

®  Variable lease payments that depend on an index or rate, initially measured using the index or
rate at the commencement date;

*  The amount expected to be payable by the lessee under residual value guarantees;

. The exercise price of purchase options, if the lessee is reasona bly certain to exercise the
options;

*  Payments of penalties for terminating the lease, if the lease term reflects the exercise of an
option to terminate the lease,

The lease liability is presented as a separate line in the statement of financial position.
The lease liability is subsequently measured by increasing the carrying amount to reflect interest on

the lease liability (using the effective interest method) and by reducing the carrying amount to
reflect the lease payments made.
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The Company remeasures the lease liability (and makes a corresponding adjustment to the related
right-of-use asset) whenever;

*  The lease term has changed or there is a significant event or change in circumstances resulting
in a change in the assessment of exercise of a purchase option, in which case the lease liability
is remeasured by discounting the revised lease payments using a revised discount rate.

*#  The lease payments change due to changes in an index or rate or a change in expected
payment under a guaranteed residual value, in which cases the lease liability is remeasured by
discounting the revised lease payments using an unchanged discount rate {unless the lease
payments change is due to a change in a floating interest rate, in which case a revised
discount rate is used).

*  Alease contract is modified and the lease modification is not accounted for as a separate
lease, in which case the lease liability is remeasured based on the lease term of the modified
lease by discounting the revised lease payments using a revised discount rate at the effective
date of the modification.

The right-of-use assets comprise the initial measurement of the corresponding lease liability, lease
payments made at or before the commencement day, less any lease incentives received and any
initial direct costs. They are subsequently measured at cost less accumulated depreciation and
impairment losses.

Right-of-use assets are depreciated over the shorter period of lease term and useful life of the
underlying asset. If a lease transfers ownership of the underlying asset or the cost of the right-of-
use asset reflects that the Company expects to exercise a purchase option, the related right-of-use
asset is depreciated over the useful life of the underlying asset. The depreciation starts at the
commencement date of the lease.

The right-of-use assets are presented as a separate line in the statement of financial position.

The Company applies IAS 36 to determine whether a right-of-use asset is impaired and accounts for
any identified impairment loss as described in the ‘Property, Plant and Equipment’ policy.

Variable rents that do not depend on an index or rate are not included in the measurement the
lease liability and the right-of-use asset. The related payments are recognised as an expense in the
period in which the event or condition that triggers those payments occurs and are included in the
line “Selling expenses” in profit or loss.

As a practical expedient, IFRS 16 permits a lessee not to separate non-lease components, and
instead account for any lease and associated non-lease components as a single arrangement, The
Company has not used this practical expedien. For a contracts that contain a lease component and
one or more additional lease or non-lease components, the Company allocates the consideration in
the contract to each lease component on the basis of the relative stand-alone price of the lease
component and the aggregate stand-alone price of the non-lease components.
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Retirement benefit costs

In accordance with the legislative requirements of the Republic of Kazakhstan, the Company pays
an amount equivalent to 10% of each employee’s wage into an accumulation pension fund.
However, in accordance with Kazakhstan legislation, from 1 January 2018, the contribution per
employee should not exceed 212,500 Tenge per month. Prior to this date, the maximum monthly
contribution per employee was 212,130 Tenge. These amounts are expensed when they are
incurred. Pension fund payments are withheld from employees’ salaries and included with other
payroll costs in profit or loss.

Income taxes
The income tax expense represents the sum of tax currently payable and deferred income tax,

Current tax

Tax currently payahle is based on taxable income for the year. Taxable income differs from net
profit as reported in the statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income as it excludes
income or expense items that are taxable or deductible in other years and it further excludes items
that are never taxable or deductible. The Company’s liability for current tax is calculated using tax
rates effective at the reporting date.

Deferred tax

Deferred income tax is recognized on temporary differences between the carrying amounts of
assets and liabilities in the financial statements and the related tax bases used in calculating taxable
profit. Deferred tax liabilities are generally recognized for all taxable temporary differences, and
deferred tax assets are generally recognized for all deductible tem porary differences to the extent
that it is probable that taxable profits will be available against which those deductible temporary
differences can be utilized. Such assets and liabilities are not recognized if a temporary difference
arises from goodwill or from the initial recognition (other than in a business combination) of other
assets and liabilities in a transaction that affects neither taxable profit not accounting profit.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at each reporting date and reduced to the
extent that is no longer probable that sufficient taxable income will be available to allow all or part
of the asset to be recovered. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates that
are expected to apply in the period in which the liability is settled or the asset realized.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a legally enforceable right to offset
current tax assets against current tax liabilities and when they relate to income taxes levied by the
same tax authority and the Company intends to settle its current tax assets and liabilities on a net
basis,

Current and deferred taxes are recognized as an expense or income in profit or loss, except when
they relate to items that are recognized in other comprehensive income or directly in equity, in
which case the tax is also recognized in other comprehensive income or directly in equity, or where
they arise from the initial accounting for a business combination. In the case of a business
combination, the tax effect is included in the accounting for the business combination.

19



LLP RG BRANDS KAZAKHSTAN

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2021
(in thousands of Tenge, unless otherwise stated)

Property, plant and equipment
Land, buildings and constructions, machinery and equipment

Subsequent to initial recognition, land, buildings and construction, machinery and equipment are
carried at revalued amounts being their fair value at the date of the revaluation.

Revaluations are made with sufficient regularity such that the carrying amount of property, plant
and equipment does not differ materially from that which would be determined using estimated
fair values at the reporting date. Accumulated depreciation as at the revaluation date is eliminated
against the gross carrying amount of the asset and the net amount is restated to the revalued
amount of the asset.

Any revaluation surplus is recognized in other comprehensive income, except to the extent it
reverses a revaluation decrease of the carrying amount of the same asset previously recognized in
profit or loss. In this case a surplus is debited within the amount of expenses previously recognized.
A revaluation deficit is recognized in profit or loss, except when a deficit directly decreases a
previous surplus on the same asset. In such cases a deficit decreases the reserve amount for the
assets recognized in other comprehensive income.

An annual transfer from the asset revaluation reserve to retained earnings is made for the
difference between depreciation charged to the revalued assets and depreciation charged to the
assets’ original cost. Upon disposal, any revaluation reserve relating to the particular asset being
sold is transferred to retained earnings.

Property, plant and equipment, other than land, buildings and constructions, machinery and
equipment

Items of property, plant and equipment other than land, buildings and constructions, machinery
and equipment are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and impairment losses. The cost of
self-constructed assets includes the cost of materials, direct labor costs and an appropriate
propertion of construction related overheads. Interest is capitalized in accordance with the
accounting policy in respect of borrowings and borrowing costs outlined below. Where an item of
property, plant and equipment comprises major components having different useful lives, they are
accounted for as separate items of property, plant and equipment.

Construction-in-progress

Capital construction in progress includes costs incurred on specific assets that have not been
completed or placed into service. When such assets are completed and are ready for their intended
use, they are transferred to the relevant property, plant and equipment category and depreciated
on the basis described below,

Assets agcquired with deferred payment

Assets acquired with payment deferred beyond normal credit term are recognized as items of
property, plant and equipment at the amount of cash or cash equivalents paid or at the fair value of
the other consideration given to acquire an asset at the time of its acquisition. The difference
between the cost of acquisition and the total payment is recognized as interest over the period of
credit unless such interest is capitalized on the basis of the policy on borrowings described below.
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Subsequent expenditures

Expenditure incurred to replace a component of an item of property, plant and equipment that is
accounted for separately, is capitalized at the present value of the component being depreciated.
Other subsequent expenditure is capitalized only when it increases the future economic benefits of
the item of property, plant and equipment. All other expenditure is recognized in the statement of
profit or loss and other comprehensive income as an expense when incurred.

Depreciation other than depreciation of production assets

Depreciation is charged and recorded in profit or loss on a straight-line basis over the estimated
useful lives of the individual assets.

Depreciation starts from the date of acquisition or, in respect of internally-constructed assets, from
the time an asset is completed and ready for use. Land is not depreciated. The following average
useful economic lives are used:

Buildings and constructions 13 to 20 years
Machinery and equipment 5 to 14 years
Vehicles 7 to 14 years
Other 3 to 14 years

The estimated useful life and depreciation methodology are reviewed at the end of each annual
reporting period, with the effect of any changes in estimate being accounted for on a prospective
basis.

Depreciation of production assets

Method of units of production method of depreciation is used in production divisions of the
Company, and is applied to property, plant and equipment directly involved into production of
finished goods of the Company. Depreciation is charged and recorded in profit or loss, assessed
based on technical life of the asset and its relative efficiency.

Disposal of property, plant and equipment

An item of property, plant and equipment is derecognized after it is disposed of or when the receipt
of future economic benefits from its use or disposal is no longer expected. Any income or expenses
arising upon derecognition of an asset (calculated as a difference between the net proceeds from
the disposal and carrying value of the asset) are included into the statement of profit or loss and
other comprehensive income in the reporting period in which the asset is derecognized.
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Impairment of property, plant and equipment

At the end of each reporting period, the Company reviews the carrying amounts of its property,
plant and equipment to determine whether there is any indication that those assets have suffered
an impairment loss. If any such indication exists, the recoverable amount of the asset is estimated
in order to determine the extent of the impairment loss (if any). Where it is not possible to estimate
the recoverable amount of an individual asset, the Company estimates the recoverable amount of
the cash-generating unit to which the asset belongs. Where a reasonable and consistent basis of
allocation can be identified, corporate assets are also allocated to individual cash-generating units,
or otherwise they are allocated to the smallest Company of cash-generating units for which a
reasonable and consistent allocation basis can be identified.

The recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less selling costs, and value in use. In assessing
value in use, estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax
discount rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks
specific to the asset for which the estimates of future cash flows have not been adjusted.

If the recoverable amount of an asset (or cash-generating unit) is estimated to be less than its
carrying amount, the carrying amount of the asset (cash-generating unit) is reduced to its
recoverable amount. An impairment loss is recognized immediately as loss, unless the relevant
asset is carried at a revalued amount, in which case the impairment loss is treated as a revaluation

decrease,

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying amount of the asset (cash-
generating unit) is increased to the revised estimate of its recoverable amount, but so that the
increased carrying amount does not exceed the carrying amount that would have been determined
had no impairment loss been recognized for the asset (cash-generating unit) in prior years. A
reversal of an impairment loss is recognized immediately in profit or loss, unless the relevant asset
is carried at a revalued amount, in which case the reversal of the impairment loss is treated as a
revaluation increase.

Inventory

Inventory is stated at the lower of cost and net realizable value. Costs comprise direct materials
and, where applicable, direct labor costs and those overheads which have been incurred in bringing
the inventories to their present location and condition. Cost is calculated using the first-in, first-out
(“FIFO") method. Net realizable value represents the estimated selling price less all estimated costs
to complete production and costs to be incurred in marketing, selling and distribution. The
Company creates provisions for slow moving and obsolete inventory based on inventary turnover
ratios and current marketing plans.
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Financial instruments
Financial assets

All financial assets are recognized and derecognized on a trade date where the purchase or sale of a
financial asset is under a contract whose terms require delivery of the financial asset within the
timeframe established by the market concerned, and are initially measured at fair value, plus
transaction costs, except for those financial assets classified as fair value through profit or loss
(FWTPL). Transaction costs directly attributable to the acquisition of financial assets classified as at
FVTPL are recognized immediately in profit or loss.

All recognized financial assets that are within the scope of IFRS 9 are required to be subsequently
measured at amortized cost or fair value on the basis of the entity’s business model for managing
the financial assets and the contractual cash flow characteristics of the financial assets.

Specifically:

*  Debtinstruments that are held within a business model whose objective is to collect
the contractual cash flows, and that have contractual cash flows that are solely payments of
principal and interest on the principal amount outsta nding (SPPI), are subsequently measured
at amortized cost;

® Debt instruments that are held within a business model whose objective is both te collect the
contractual cash flows and to sell the debt instruments, and that have contractual cash flows
that are SPPI, are subsequently measured at fair value through other comprehensive income
(FVTOCI);

All other debt instruments (e.g. debt instruments managed on a fair value basis, or held for sale)
and equity investments are subsequently measured at FVTPL.

Financial assets at amortized cost or at FVTOCI
STl assels of amortized cost or at FYTOCH

The Company assesses the classification and measurement of a financial asset based on the
contractual cash flow characteristics of the asset and the Company’s business model for managing
the asset.

For an asset to be classified and measured at amortized cost or at FVTOCI, its contractual terms
should give rise to cash flows that are solely payments of principal and interest on the principal
outstanding (SPPI).

For the purpose of SPPI test, principal is the fair value of the financial asset at initial recognition.
That principal amount may change over the life of the fina ncial asset (e.g. if there are repayments
of principal. Interest consists of consideration for the time value of money, for the credit risk
associated with the principal amount outstanding during a particular period of time and for other
basic lending risks and costs, as well as a profit margin. The SPPI| assessment is made in the currency
in which the financial asset is denominated.,

At initial recognition, the Company may make an irrevocable ele ction to present in other
comprehensive income subsequent changes in the fair value of an investment in an equity
instrument that is neither held for trading nor contingent consideration recognised by an acquirer
in a business combination,
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Financiaol assets at FVTPL

Financial assets at FYTPL are:

Assets with contractual cash flows that are not SPPI; or/and

*  Assetsthat are held in a business model other than held to collect contractual cash flows or
held to collect and sell:

*  Assets designated at FVTPL using the fair value option.

These assets are measured at fair value, with any gains/losses arising on remeasurement
recognized in profit or loss.

Financial assets measured at amortized cost

Trade receivables, loans, and other receivables that have fixed or determinable payments
measured at amortized cost using the effective interest method, less any impairment. Interest
income is recognized by applying the effective interest rate.

An allowance for expected credit losses is established based on an expected credit loss model, The
Company accounts expected credit losses and cha nges in those expected credit losses at each
reporting date to reflect changes in credit risk since initial recognition. The primary factors that the
Company considers whether a receivable is impaired is its overdue status, collection history and
forward looking macro-economic factors.

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents include cash on hand, cash in banks and fixed-term deposits with an
original maturity of three months or less. Where restricted for use, cash and cash equivalents are
disclosed appropriately in the notes to the financial statements.

Other financiol assets
Other financial assets include Bank Julius Bir & Co coupon bonds and government bonds of the Ministry of
Finance of the Republic of Kazakhstan, which are accaunted for at FVTPL, and include debts of Area Plus

DMCC and RG Brands JSC, which are carried at amortized cost and FVTPL, depending on terms of an
agreament.

Financial liabilities

Financial liabilities are classified as either financial liabilities ‘at FWTPL® or "financial liabilities’, or
financial liabilities measured at amortized cost.

Financial liabilities measured at amortized cost

Financial liabilities, measured at amortized cost, including payables and borrowings, are initially
measured at fair value, net of transaction costs. Other financial liabilities are subsequently
measured at amortized cost using the effective interest method.

The effective interest method is a method of calculating the amortized cost of a financial liability
and of allocating interest expense over the relevant period.

24



LLP RG BRANDS KAZAKHSTAN

MOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2021
{in thousands of Tenge, unless otherwise stated)

Derecognition of financial liabilities

The Company derecognizes financial liabilities when, and only when, the Company’s obligations are
discharged, cancelled or have expired. The difference between the carrying amount of the financial
liability derecognized and the consideration paid and payable is recognized in profit or loss.

Provisions

Provisions are recognized when the Company has a present obligation (legal or implied from
practice) as a result of a past event, it is probable that the Company will be required to settle the
obligation, and a reliable estimate can be made of the amount of the obligation.

The amount recognized as a provision is the best estimate of the consideration required to settle
the present obligation as at the date of the statement of financial position, taking inte account the
risks and uncertainties surrounding the obligation. Where a provision is measured using the cash
flows estimated to settle the present obligation, its carrying amount is the present value of those
cash flows.

When some or all of an economic benefit required to settle a provision is expected to be recovered
from a third party, the contingent asset is recognized as an asset if it is virtually certain that
reimbursement will be received and the amount of the receivable can be measured reliably.

Provisions for restructuring costs are recognized when the Company has a detailed formal
restructuring plan which has been notified to the parties concerned,

4. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY

In the application of the Company’s accounting policies, which are described in Note 3,
management is required to make judgments, estimates and assumptions about the carrying
amounts of assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent from other sources. The estimates
and associated assumptions are based on historical experience and other factors that are
considered to be relevant. Actual results may differ from these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to
accounting estimates are recognized in the period in which the estimate is revised if the revision
affects only that period, or in the period of the revision and future periods if the revision affects
both current and future periods.

Key sources of estimation uncertainty

The following are the key assumptions concerning the future, and other key sources of estimation
uncertainty at the date of the statement of financial position, that have a significant risk of causing
a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the next financial

year.
Revaluation of property, plant ond equipment

The Company’s land, buildings and constructions, machinery and equipment are carried at a
revalued amount.
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The valuation of the Company’s land, buildings and constructions was performed by an
independent appraiser as at 1 October 2020. The valuation, which conforms to International
Valuation Standards, was determined by reference to (a) the cost approach, (b) revenue approach
and (c) comparative approach, adjusted for differences with the asset under valuation. Discounted
cash flow (DCF) method to check for the economic depreciation of the Company’s assets as a Cash
Generating Unit was performed. The description of the methods are disclosed in Note 11.

The Management of the Company believes that fair value of land, buildings and constructions,
machinery and equipment does not significantly differ from its carrying value as at
31 December 2021.

B REVENUE
2021 2020
Sales of juice, juice containing drinks and carbonated soft drinks 73,460,075 50,881,777
Sales of packed tea, packed milk and food products 22,897,563 21,735,470
Sales of wholesale products 110,632 68,517
96,468,270 72,685,764
6. COST OF SALES
2021 2020
Raw and other materials 50,847,227 36,530,692
Depreciation and amartization 1,442,585 1,253,073
Payroll and related taxes 1,403,030 1,033,283
Repairs 1,095,387 E50,563
Utilities 741,808 502,789
Cost of sales of wholesale products 143,337 84,077
Other costs 203,983 158,867
55,877,357 40,403,344
7. SELLING EXPEMNSES
2021 2020
Transportation expenses 7.206,752 4,525,293
Sales agents expenses 7.279,714 4,295,511
Advertising campaigns and market research 4,066,345 2,317,312
Payroll and related taxes 1,853,401 1,987,045
Warehouse services 731,180 548 864
Amortization of marketing equipment 727,861 685,200
Rovyalties for the use of trademarks 499,747 9,855,872
Advertising and promational materials 262,566 272,783
Business trip expenses 7,255 11,183
Write-off of materials - 13
Other selling expenses 1,189,863 726,368
Reimbursement of selling expenses 1295,570) 11,101,100}
23,529,114 24,134,344
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1“1

Reimbursement of selling expenses includes reimbursements for advertising campaign and market

research from Pepsi Lipton International Limited and Portfolio Concentrate Solutions UC.

GENERAL AND ADMINISTRATIVE EXPENSES

Payroll and related taxes

Information services

Taxes, ather than income tax

Bank charges

Waste goods write-off

Repairs

Depreciation and amortization

Consulting services

Travel expenses

Transportation expenses

Representative expenses

Communication services

Legal services

Insurance

Accrual of provision for expected eredit losses
Utilities

Training

Accrual of provision for slow-moving and obsolete inventory
Penalties and fines

Others

FINANCE COSTS

Interest expenses
Others

2021 2020
2,415,334 2,052,738
458,664 163,091
412,499 245,714
294,792 201,369
221,483 263,293
171,073 126,532
142,414 156,746
128,229 224,089
107,601 165,280
101,645 92,797
95,296 79,553
91,454 112,387
B1,744 29,582
75,736 124,458
76,667 5,140
48,554 76,277
35,109 45,544
2,252 8,652
7,142 6,500
574,148 376,440
5,546,886 4,556,301

2021 2020
3,564,326 3,150,593
546,392 82,250
4,110,718 3,272,843

As at 31 December 2021 and 2020, the weighted average interest rates of the Company’s bank

loans were 7.81% and 8.34% per annum, respectively.

TAXKATION

Current income tax expense
Deferred income tax (benefit)/expense

Tetal income tax expense
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Deferred taxes reflect the net tax effects of temporary differences between the carrying amounts
of assets and liabilities for financial reporting purposes and the amounts used for tax purposes,
Deferred income tax assets and liabilities are calculated at the rate expected to apply in the period
when assets are realized or liabilities are settled.

The tax effect on the major temporary differences that give rise to deferred tax assets and liabilities
as at 31 December 2021 and 2020 is presented below;

31 December 31 December
2021 2020
Deferred tax assets:
Provision for expected credit losses 44,677 42,821
Acerual of provision for unused vacation and bonuses 79,520 55,900
Provision for impairment of inventory 15,916 15,466
Taxes 6,064 4,304
Other 1,836 26,592
154,013 145,083
Deferred tax liabilities:
Property, plant and equipment and intangible assets {3,968,723) {4,254,707)
Other - {8,357)
(3,968,723} {4,263,064)
Deferred tax liabilities, net (3,814,710) (4,117,981)

In 2021 and 2020 the statutory tax rate effective in the Republic of Kazakhstan, the location of the
Company, was 20%.

Below is a reconciliation of theoretical income tax at 20% to the actual tax expense recorded in the
Company’s statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income:

2021 2020
Profit before tax 7,983,032 3,054,885
Income tax at the statutory tax rate of 20% 1,596,606 610,977
Mon-taxable income [214,393) -
MNon-deductible expenses 61,745 565,465
Income tax expense 1,443,958 1,176,442
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The change in deferred tax was presented as follows:

Pravision for expected credit losses

Provision for unused vacation and
bonuses

Provision for impairment of inventory

Taxes
Other assets
Other liabilities

Property, plant and equipment and

intangible assets

Provision for expected credit losses

Provision for unused vacation and
bonuses

Pravision for impairment of inventary

Taxes

Other financial assets
Other assets

Other liabilities

Property, plant and equipment and

intangible assets

Recognised in
ather
1 January Recognised in comprehensive 31 December
2021 profit or loss income 2021
42,821 1,856 44,677
55,900 23,620 79,520
15,466 450 15,916
4,304 1,760 - 6,064
26,592 (18,758) - 7,836
(8,357) 8,357 -
(4,254,707) 285,984 (2,968,723)
(4,117,981) 303,271 3 (3,814,710
Recognised in
other
1 January Recognised in comprehensive 31 December
2020 profit or loss income 2020

47,963 [5,142) 42,821
45,402 10,498 - 55,900
13,735 1,731 15,466

3,309 555 - 4,304

- (188,645} 188,645 >

3,268 23,324 . 26,592
(15,134) 6,777 (8,357)
(3.414,963) 49,387 (889,131) (4,254,707)
(3,316,420) (101,075) (700,486) {4,117,981)
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LLP RG BRANDS KAZAKHSTAN

MOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2021
(in thousands of Tenge, unless otherwise stated)

As at 31 December 2021 and 2020, property, plant and equipment with a carrying value of
16,386,916 thousand tenge and 10,665,460 thousand tenge, respectively, has been pledged to
secure borrowings (Note 20). The Company is not allowed to pledge these assets as security for
other borrowings or to sell them.

The valuation of the Company’s property, plant and equipment was performed by an independent
appraiser as at 1 October 2020. As a result, the Company recognized gain on revaluation of land in
the amount of 468,696 thousand tenge, net of the effect of deferred income tax of

93,739 thousand tenge in other comprehensive income, buildings and constructions in the amount
of 809,951 thousand tenge, net of the effect of deferred income tax of 161,990 thousand tenge in
other comprehensive income, also recognized gain on revaluation of machinery and equipment in
the amount of 3,167,008 thousand tenge, net of the effect of deferred income tax of

633,402 thousand tenge in other comprehensive income, and loss from revaluation of machinery
and equipment in the amount of 440,813 thousand tenge in profit or loss.

The valuation, which conforms to International Valuation Standards, was determined by reference
to (a) the cost approach, (b) revenue approach and (c) comparative approach, adjusted for
differences with the asset under valuation that is an estimate of the Level 3 fair value in the fair
value hierarchy.

The appraiser attributed some of the Company's property, plant and equipment to specialized
assets that cannot be sold separately from business in which they are used. To determine their fair
value, the appraiser used cost approach to valuation: determined the replacement cost new (RCN)
of the assets and their physical depreciation. The appraiser determined the RCN of assets for which
the Company provided information on technical parameters using unit construction costs and
based on analysis of offers for sale of new similar objects. The physical depreciation of assets
appraised by the cost approach was determined based on a comparison of their age and the normal
useful life.

For non-specialized assets, the appraiser used market approach for valuation when analyzing their
fair value. When applying the market approach to valuation, the appraiser used direct comparison
method: adjusted the offers for sale of similar objects on secondary market for difference in their
characteristics and characteristics of the objects being analyzed.

The appraiser estimated remaining useful life for each asset based on comparison of their age and
normal useful life.

The discounted cash flow (DCF) method to check for the economic depreciation of the Company's
assets as a Cash Generating Unit was used. WACC at 19.08% was used as a discount rate in the
model. Revenue, cost of sales, administrative costs, capital investment, depreciation, taxes
forecasts were based on Company’s average historical results adjusted for Consumer Price Index of
Kazakhstan, growth of customer’s base and forecasts of foreign exchange rates. The appraiser used
the long-term inflation rate in Kazakhstan 1.89% as terminal growth rate.

Had the Company's land and buildings and constructions, machinery and equipment been

measured on a historical cost basis, their carrying amount as at 31 December 2021 and 2020 would
have been 21,461,047 thousand tenge and 21,475,742 thousand tenge, respectively.
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121

13,

14!

The management of the Company has made an assessment of whether the impairment indicators
exist at the reporting date. As a result of the analysis performed, the management has not
identified any evidence of impairment indicators,

ADVANCES PAID

31 December 31 December
2021 2020
MNon-current:
Advances paid 1,617,518 1,214,810
Advances paid for property, plant and equipment - 215,118
Other 388,695 77,676
2,006,213 1,507,604
Current:
Advances paid for services and inventory 3,593,537 1,705,589
Less: Pravision for doubtful debts {197,384) (146, 788)
3,396,173 1,558,801

Non-current advances paid mainly include advances for advertising placement till 2026.

INVENTORIES
31 December 31 December
2021 2020
Raw materials 7,206,184 2,940,545
Finished goods 6,136,133 3,793,247
Packing materials 3,129,189 1,009,592
Spare parts 918,299 615,879
Other 656,027 197,331
Less: Prowvision for slow-moving and obsolete inventory (79,580} {77,328)
18,006,252 8,679,266

As at 31 Decemnber 2021, inventories with an assessed value of 5,166,207 thousand tenge
(31 December 2020: 4,003,080 thousand tenge) have been pledged to secure borrowings (Note 20).

TRADE ACCOUNTS RECEIVABLE
31 December 31 December
2021 2020
Trade accounts receivable 2,125,998 1,561,722
Less: provision for expected credit losses {9,528) {49,052)
2,120,470 1,512,670
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As at 31 December of 2021 and 2020, trade accounts receivable were denominated in the following

currencies:
2021 2020
Tenge 1,763,334 1,265,103
Russian Roubles 248 7493 203,902
US Dallars 102,858 40,084
Kyrgyz Soms 5,385 3,581
2,120,470 1,512,670

The following table details the risk profile of trade receivables as at 31 December 2021 based on
the Company’s provision matrix:

Trade accounts receivables — days past due
Not past due and less

than 180 days 180-360 days over 360 days Total
Expected credit loss rate 0.09% 47.85% 100%
Gross carrying amount 2,117,132 10,098 2,768 2,129,998
Lifetime ECL (1,928) (4,832) (2,768) (9,528)

The following table details the risk profile of trade receivables as at 31 December 2020 based on
the Company's provision matrix:

Trade accounts receivables - days past due

Not past due and less
than 180 days 180-360 days over 360 days Taotal
Expected credit loss rate 0.55% 41.00% 100.00%
Gross carnying amount 1,510,132 18,442 33,148 1,561,722
Lifetime ECL {8,343) (7.561) (33,148) {49,052)

In determining the recoverability of trade accounts receivable, the Company considers whether a
receivable is impaired, its overdue status, collection history and forward looking macro-economic
factors. The concentration of credit risk is limited due to the existence of a large customer base, not
related with the Company.
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15. OTHER FINANCIAL ASSETS

31 December 2021 31 December 2020
Nominal interest Nominal interest
rate Book value rate Book value

Debt of Area Plus DMCC - 20,878,091 0.44% 32,490,057
Debt of JSC RG Brands 11.8% 7,819,646
Coupon bonds of Bank Julius Bir &

Co 0.08% 2,374,900 - -
Government bonds of the Ministry

of Finance of the Republic of

Kazakhstan 6.50% 1,691,474

32,764,111 32,490,057
= —— ——— 1

As at 31 December of 2021 and 2020, other financial assets were denominated in the following

Currencies;
2021 2020
US Dollars 23,252,991 32,480,057
Tenge 9,511,120 -
32,764,111 32,490,057
Debt of Area Pius DMCC

On 19 March 2020, the Company concluded a loan agreement with Area Plus DMCC, related party
company, according to which the Company transfers the right for temporary use of securities
owned by the Company. The interest rate of the loan is 0.01% per annum and coupon interest of
transferred securities, maturity - 12 months. Under the agreement, the Company transferred to
Area Plus DMCC the right to temporarily use a portfolio of securities for a total amount of

76,574 thousand USD (equivalent to 33,066,185 thousand te nge), which at the date of transfer
included coupon bonds of Bank Julius B&r&Co, coupon bonds of corporate issuers and US Treasuries
with annual interest rates of 1.51-6.25% and maturities up to 12 months. The loan was planned to
be repaid in the form of repayment of the loan amount and/or securities that will be in the
portfolio of Area Plus DMCC at the date of the loan maturity.

As at 31 December 2020, the fair value of the loan was 76,855 thousand USD (equivalent to
32,490,057 thousand tenge). Loan given to Area Plus DMCC are measured at FVTPL. Changes in the
fair value of this loan are recognized as investment gain/loss. Cha nges related to exchange rate
differences are included in exchange rate gains/losses. For the year ended 31 December 2020, for
financial assets measured at FVTPL and denominated in US dollars, the Company recognized foreign
exchange gain in the amount of 3,589,537 thousand tenge.

On 20 January 2021, Area Plus DMCC and the Company concluded agreement for the supply of raw
materials for the production in the amount of 77,225 thousand USD.
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On 2 February 2021, Area Plus DMCC and the Company concluded an agreement to offset the loan
issued under the agreement dated 19 March 2020 against prepayment under this supply
agreement, this was a non-cash transaction. As a result, the Group derecognized this loan and
recognized the advance paid to Area Plus DMCC.

In 2021, Area Plus DMCC repaid the advance in the amount of 11,875,799 thousand tenge. In
Movember 2021, the Company and Area Plus DMCC agreed that the remaining amount of the
advance has to be repaid in cash till February 2022. As a result, the Company derecognized the
advance and recognized the financial asset given to Area Plus DMCC. This financial asset is
measured at amortized cost. As of 31 December 2021, the debt of Area Plus DMCC is
20,878,091 thousand tenge (Note 30).

Debt of J5C RG Brands

In November 2021, the Company and RG Brands JSC concluded an option agreement to purchase a
23.83% share in the Company's authorized capital, which can be exercised till 30 September 2022,
subject to the achievement by the Company of certain performance indicators. As part of this
agreement, the Company provided an advance to RG Brands JSC in the amount of

8,500,000 thousand tenge. As at 31 December 2021, the Company believes that probability of
option to be exercised is remote, expects the debt to be settled in cash and carries it at amortized
cost. An adjustment to the fair value of debt in the amount of 754,082 thousand tenge was
recognized in equity.

Coupon and government bonds

As at 31 December 2021, the carrying value of coupon bonds of Bank Julius Bir & Co was
2,374,900 thousand tenge and government bonds of the Ministry of Finance of the Republic of
Kazakhstan was 1,691,474 thousand tenge. These financial assets are utilized within a business
model whose objective is generating investment income through their sale in a short-term period.
These securities are measured at fair value through profit or loss (FVTPL).

Preferred shares

As at 31 December 2019 the Company owned preferred shares of parent company J5C RG Brands of
1,767,602 thousand tenge. As at 31 December 2020 the Company sold these preferred shares.
Preferred shares JSC RG Brands have been classified as an equity instrument at fair value through
other comprehensive income (FYTOCI).

For the year ended 31 December 2020 loss from changes in fair value of preferred shares net of
income tax amounted to 754,579 thousand tenge and was recognized in other comprehensive
income.

In 2020, the Company sold these preferred shares to shareholders of 15C RG Brands. Loss from the
sale of preferred shares amounted to 452,523 thousand tenge and was recognized as investment
expense. The investment revaluation reserve was transferred to retained earnings.
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16. OTHER CURRENT ASSETS

31 December 31 December
2021 2020
Financial assets:
Receivables from employees 148,357 212,027
Other receivables from related parties (Note 25) B9.022 84,986
Other receivables 271,8% 145,506
Less: prevision for doubtful debts [13.856) {15,625)
495,459 426,894
Non-financial assets
Prépaid expenses 130,244 436,118
Other taxes receivable 632,489 208,065
762,733 744,183

1,258,192 1,171,077

As at 31 December 2021 and 2020, other current assets were denominated in tenge.
17. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS
31 December 31 December
2021 2020

Reverse repurchase agreements 2,804,119 3,612,501
Cash on bank accounts in foreign currency 1,812,905 3,213,329
Cash on bank accounts in Tenge 1,222,904 171,663
Cash in broker's account 0727 63,171
Cash in transit 33,133 66,621
Petty cash 5,073 6,947
Cash in other accounts in Tenge 3,223 3,271

5,952,084 7,137,503

As at 31 December 2021 and 2020, cash and cash equivalents were denominated in the following

currencies:
2021 2020

Tenge 4,139,179 3,924,126
s Dollars 1,556,399 3,077,679
Russian Roubles 255,560 134,449
Euro 942 1,244
Other 4 5

5,952,084 7,137,503
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131‘

19.

20.

BANK DEPOSITS

31 December 31 December
2021 2020
Eurasian Development Bank 690,893 670,831
5B Sherbank 15C 530,905 -
Other 98,548 577
1,320,346 671,408

As at 31 December 2021, deposits mainly constitute savings accounts in Eurasian Develo prment
Bank in the amount of 690,893 thousand tenge, the account is denominated in US dollars, the
interest rate is 1.5%, and in 5B Sherbank JSC in the amount of 530,905 thousand tenge, the account

is denominated in tenge, the interest rate is 8.5%.

CAPITAL

The Company’s authorized capital as at 31 December 2021 and 2020 is 1,132,130 thousand tenge.
As at 31 December 2021 and 2020, the Sole Participant of the Partnership is JSC «RG Brands»,

In 2021 the Company authorized dividends based on the results of 2020 of
9,900,041 thousand tenge. In 2020, the Company did not authorize dividends.

BORROWINGS
31 December 31 December

Borrowings: 2021 2020
Long-term loans 31,596,781 19,108,555
Short-term bank loans and current portion of long-term loans B.017.667 13,449,022

39,614,448 32,557,587
Accrued interest payable 507,407 340,857
Total borrowings 40,121,855 32,898,444

As at 31 December 2021 and 2020, the borrowings are subject to repayment as follows:

2021 2020
On demand or within one year 8,525,074 13,789,879
In the second to fifth year inclusive 29,869,402 18,656,764
Ower five years 1.727.379 451 801
40,121,855 32,898 444
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Long-term loans

In 2016, the Company signed a credit line agreement with the Development Bank of Kazakhstan
("DBK") for replenishment of working capital that combined in March 2019 with existing credit line
agreement signed in 2015. The total amount of the combined limit is 4,906,000 thousand tenge,
the period until the end of December 2023, the period of tranches - 36 months, the interest rate is
/.41%. Maturity of principal amount of the debt is December 2023. As at 31 December 2021, the
outstanding principal amount is 4,906,000 thousand tenge. The carrying amount of pledged
property, plant and equipment is 1,082,702 thousand tenge.

In 2017, the Company signed a credit line agreement with the Eurasian Development Bank (“EDB")
for for opening a revolving credit line for the amount of 1,270,000 thousand Russian rubles with an
interest rate of 10.1%. The purpose of the loan is to finance operational activities. In 2021, the term
of the credit line was extended until October 2025, the term of the tranches was extended to

60 months, and the interest rate was set at 9.25%. As at 31 December 2021, the outstanding
principal amount was 1,270,000 thousand Russian rubles. The Property, Plant and Equipment of the
Company with a carrying value of 2,134,434 thousand tenge pledged as collateral for this loan.

In 2018, the Company signed a loan agreement with Bank CenterCredit JSC in the amount of
280,000 thousand tenge. The purpose of the loan is to purchase production equipment, The term
of the credit line is 60 months. The interest rate is 6%. The debt as at 31 December 2021 is
99,084 thousand tenge. The carrying amount of pledged Property, Plant and Equipment is
352,510 thousand tenge.

In 2019, the Company signed a non-revolving credit facility agreement with the Asian Development
Bank for a total amount of 20,000 thousand Dollars with a disbursement in the equivalent of tenge.
The intended use of the loan is the replenishment of working capital and capital expenditures. The
term of the credit line is December 2028, the loans are repayable twice a year. There were no
utilization as of December 31, 2021. The loan is secured by the Company's property, plant and
equipment with a carrying amount of 2,966,671 thousand tenge.

In 2020 the Company entered into a loan agreements on opening a revolving credit lines with SB
Sberbank J5C in the amount of 8,020,000 thousand tenge, of which 5,640,000 thousand tenge
were attracted to replenish working capital with a tranche period of 36 months. The balance of
principal debt under revolving credit lines amounted to KZT 5,600,764 thousand. Also in 2020, the
Company concluded a loan agreement on the opening of a non-revolving credit line with SB
Sberbank J5C in the amount of 2,307,000 thousand tenge. The purpose of the loan is investment.
The term of the credit line is 84 months. The debt as of December 31, 2021 amounted to
2,059,745 thousand tenge. These lines are subsidized under the Economy of Simple Things
program, the final rate is 5%. In relation to a subsidized rate, the Company recognized deferred
income in the amount of 1,175,844 thousand tenge (Note 24). The Property, Plant and Equipment
of the Company with a carrying value of 1,428,856 thousand tenge and inventories with an
assessed value of 557,649 thousand tenge have been pledge as collateral for these credit
agreements.
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As at 31 December 2021, the outstanding principal amount of the loans under the loan agreement
with the European Bank for Reconstruction and Development (“EBRD") was

4,832,000 thousand tenge. The purpose of the loan is a refinancing of short-term debt and
replenish working capital. The loan facility is repayable semiannually, till June 2025, Weighted-
average interest rate for 2021 is 11.8% and interest is payable quarterly. The fixed assets of the
Company with a carrying value of 5,296,973 thousand tenge and inventories with an assessed value
of 4,012,878 thousand tenge have been pledge as collateral for these loans.

In 2021, the Company signed a credit line agreement with the German development bank DEG -
Deutsche Investitions- und Entwicklungsgesellschaft to open a non-revolving line of credit for the
total amount of 1,400,000 thousand rubles. The purpose of the loans is refinancing of short-term
debt and replenishment of working capital. The term of the credit line is until March 2028. In 2021,
the Company received a tranche in the amount of 600,000 thousand Russian rubles with the
interest rate of 9.27% for a period of 7 years. Principal debt as of as at 31 December 2021
amounted to 600,000 thousand rubles (equivalent to 3,456,000 thousand tenge). The Property,
Plant and Equipment of the Company with a carrying value of 2,001,955 thousand tenge and
inventories with an assessed value of 595,680 thousand tenge have been pledge as collateral for
these loans.

In 2021, the Company increased the limit of the loan agreement concluded in 2018 with Altyn Bank
J5C (SB China Citic Bank Corporation Limited) to 7,000,000 thousand tenge and received a new
tranche in the amount of 1,000,000 thousand tenge to replenish working capital for a period

36 months. This tranche is subsidized under the Economy of Simple Things program, the final rate is
5%. The loan as of December 31, 2021 amounted to 976,136 thousand tenge. In relation to
subsidized rate, the Company recognized deferred income in the amount of

144,015 thousand tenge (Note 24).

In 2021, the Company entered into a loan agreement with Eurasian Bank JSC to open a non-
revolving credit line for the total amount of 6,327,000 thousand tenge, of which

5,000,000 thousand tenge to replenish working capital. The term of the credit line is 36 months.
The balance of principal debt under revolving credit lines amounted to 5,000,000 thousand tenge.
The amount of 1,327,000 thousand tenge was raised for investments with a tranche term of 84
manths. Qutstanding balance of the loan as at 31 December 2021 amounted to 1,325,500 thousand
tenge. The attracted tranches are subsidized under the Economy of Simple Things program, the
final rate is 5%. In relation to subsidized rate, the Company recognized deferred income in the
amount of 880,791 thousand tenge (Note 24). The carrying value of property, plant and equipment
pledged under a number of loan agreements is 1,113,415 thousand tenge.

In 2021, the Company entered into a credit line agreement with Nurbank ISC to open a revolving
credit line in the amount of 2,000,000 thousand tenge for working capital replenishment with a
tranche term of 36 months. The balance of principal amounted to 2,000,000 thousand tenge.
Interest rate was 15%.

In 2021, the Company entered into a loan agreement for opening a revolving credit line with Forte
Bank J5C in the amount of 3,000,000 thousand tenge. The purpose of the loan is replenishment of
waorking capital. The term of the credit line is 36 months. This tranche is subsidized by DAMU
Entrepreneurship Development Fund JSC, the final rate is 5%. The debt as at 31 December 2021
amounted to 2,916,667 thousand tenge. In relation to subsidized rate, the Company recognized
deferred income in the amount of KZT 373,335 thousand. (Note 24).
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Short-term bank loans

As at 31 December 2021, the principal debt of the Company under the loan agreement with SB Alfa-
Bank JSC under the loan agreement amounted to 1,435,133 thousand tenge. The amount of the
limit was 6,250 thousand USD. The purpose of the loans is to replenish waorking capital. The
tranches maturity is 12 months. The weighted average interest rate was 10.64%. The principal debt
is repaid with a delay of 6 months from the date of issue or at the end of the tranche term.

In 2018, the Company entered into a loan agreement with Altyn Bank JSC {SB China Citic Bank
Corporation Limited) to open a revolving credit line for the total amount of

5,000,000 thousand tenge (increased to 7,000,000 thousand tenge in 2021) to replenish working
capital. The term of the credit line is 36 months, the term of the tranches under this line is

12 months. Due to partial subsidies under the Financial Support Program of the Ministry of
Agriculture of the Republic of Kazakhstan, the final rate of the tranches is 5.75%. The principal debt
as at 31 December 2021 is 87,000 thousand tenge.

In 2019, within the framework of the loan agreement concluded in 2019 with the South Korean
bank Shinhan Bank Kazakhstan J5C, the Company received a tranche in the amount of

765,000 thousand tenge at 8.9% to replenish working capital. Under the Financial Support Program
of the Ministry of Agriculture of the Republic of Kazakhstan, the subsidized interest rate was 1.9%,
the final rate for the Company is 7% per annum. The loan has a maturity till November 2022, the
interest is paid monthly. The principal debt as at 31 December 2021 is 255,000 thousand tenge.

As at 31 December 2021 and 2020, the weighted average interest rates of the Company’s bank
loans were 7.81% and 8.34% per annum, respectively.

All long-term bank loan agreements of the Company contain covenant clauses covering
performance financial indicators of the parent company JSC RG Brands and its subsidiaries
("Group)”, such as current ratio, net financial debt to equity, net financial debt to EBITDA and
others. Breach of clauses of one loan agreement may lead to cross-default for other loan
agreements. As at 31 December 2021, the Company complied with all of the required covenants of
the loan agreements (Note 28).

As at 31 December 2021 loans were denominated in the following currencies:

2021 2020
Tenge 29,082,691 26,473,761
Russian rubles 11,029,164 6,424,683

40,121,855 32,898,444
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21.

The table below summarizes the movements in liabilities resulting from financing activities.
Liabilities arising from financing activities are those liabilities from which cash flows have been in
the statement of cash flows or future cash flows will be classified as cash flows from fi nancing
activities.

Financing Deferred

1January  caszh flows income Interast Interest Other 31 December
2021 {i} (Note 24) accrued paid changes (ii) 2021
Borrowings 32,898,444 E043.821 (1036821) 4,696,422 (4,438991) (41,019) 40,121,855

(i} The cash flows from borrewings make up the net amount of proceeds from borrowings and repayments
of borrowings in the statement of cash flows.
(iiy ~ Other changes include foreign exchange loss.

Financing  Deferred

1lJanuary  cash flows income interest Interest Other 31 December
2020 (i} [Note 24) accrued paid changes [ii) 2020
Borrowings 31,381,442 3,866,596 (1,537,184) 3,717,641 (3,874,933 (655,148) 32,898 444

(i}  The cash flows from borrowings make up the net amount of proceeds from borrowings and repayments
of borrowings in the statement of cash flows.
(i)  Other changes include foreign exchange loss.

ACCOUNTS PAYABLE
31 December 31 December

2021 2020
Services 7,107,472 9,858,682
Raw materials 5,823,354 3,961,799
Packing materials 3,764,728 727,819
Goods 2,691,702 347,526
Property, plant and equipment 580,050 30,222

19,967 306 14,526,148
Less: long-term accounts payable (936,048) (869,820)

19,031,258 14,056,328

As at 31 December, accounts payable were denominated in the following currencies:

2021 2020
Tenge 11,430,770 5,642,506
LS Dollars 6,502,541 4,159,490
Eurg 1,193,893 775
Russian Roubles 491,802 447,734
Chinese yuans 278,584 659,806
Kyrgyz som £9,601 15,837
Uzbek sums 115 =

19,967,306 14,926,148

41



LLP RG BRANDS KAZAKHSTAN

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMEBER 2021
(in thousands of Tenge, unless otherwise stated)

22. TAXES PAYABLE

Value added tax
Individual income tax
Social tax

Other taxes

23. OTHER ACCOUNTS PAYABLE AND ACCRUED LIABILITIES

Advances received

Other vacation and bonuses
Accrued liabilities for employees
Other payables

24. DEFERRED INCOME

31 December 31 December
2021 2020
1,371,450 666,481
61,097 38,485
30,218 21,521
64,430 36,630
1,527,295 763,127
31 December 31 December
2021 2020
6,937,664 4,253,707
397,602 279,501
311,868 212,363
68,485 79,850
7,715,619 4,825,421

As at 31 December 2021, the Company recognized deferred income under the loans received from
5B Sberbank J5C, Altyn Bank JSC, Eurasian Bank JSC and Forte Bank JSC in the amount of

2,573,985 thousand tenge (Note 20).

Government grant

Non-current deferred income
Current deferred income

31 December 31 December
2021 2020
2,573,985 1,537,164
2,573,985 1,537,164
963,991 1,023,521
1,600,904 513,643
2,573,985 1,537,164

Deferred income is represented by government subsidies provided in the form a subsidized interest

rate (Note 20).

25. RELATED PARTIES

As of the reporting date, the amount of receivables from related parties was as follows:

Companies under common control
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As of the reporting date the amount of accounts payable, other accounts payable and accrued
liabilities to related parties is as follows:

31 December 31 December
2021 2020
J5C RG Brands . 5,357,815
Companies under common control 8,315,010 5,497,362
§,315,010 10,855,177

Outstanding amounts due to/from related parties will be settled by cash transactions. No expense
has been recognized in the reporting period for bad debts in respect of amounts owed by related
parties.

During the reporting period, the sales to related parties amounted to:

2021 2020
I5C RG Brands 2,104 230
Companies under commaon control 12,677,873 9,082,812
12,679,977 9,083,642

During periods of procurement, transactions with related parties were as follows:

2021 2020
J5C RG Brands 483,747 9,882,451
Companies under common control 20,397 85,836
520,144 9,978,287

Procurement transactions with related parties for the period ended 31 December 2021 included
services for using the trademarks of JSC RG Brands in the amount of 499,747 thousand tenge. Since
October 2021, the percentage of royalties for the use of trademarks has been decreased from 20%
to 0.8% of the revenue received from the sale of goods distributed under these trademarks,

Other transactions:

On 19 March 2020, the Company concluded a loan agreement with a related party Area Plus DMCC,
owned by Mr. K.K. Mazhibaev, and transferred the right for temporary use of securities (Note 15).

In 2021, Area Plus DMCC and the Company concluded an agreement to offset the loan issued under
the agreement dated 19 March 2020 against the prepayment under this supply agreement. As
at 31 December 2021, the debt of Area Plus DMCC was 20,878,091 thousand tenge (Note 15),

In November 2021, the Company and RG Brands JSC concluded an option agreement to purchase a
23.83% share in the Company's authorized capital. As part of this agreement, the Company
provided an advance to RG Brands J5C in the amount of 8,500,000 thousand tenge.

As at 31 December 2021, the Company believes that probability of option to be exercised is remote,
expects the debt to be settled in cash and carries it at amortized cost (Mote 15).

43



LLP RG BRANDS KAZAKHSTAN

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS {CONTIHUED}
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2021
(in thousands of Tenge, unless otherwise stated)

In July 2021 the Company issued coupon bands in the amount of 8,500,000 thousand tenge, which
were placed in RG Brands JSC. The interest rate on bonds is 20%. In October 2021 the Company
repurchased these bonds from RG Brands JSC.

As at 31 December 2019 the Company owned preferred shares of JSC RG Brands of
1,767,602 thousand tenge. For the year ended 31 December 2020, the Company sold these
preferred shares to shareholders of JSC RG Brands (Note 15).

As at 31 December 2019, the Company owned notes of JSC RG Brands of 55,899 thousand tenge.
For the year ended 31 December 2020, the notes of J5C RG Brands were redeemed.

In 2020 the Company sold investment property with a carrying amount of 559,174 thousand tenge
to the company under the common control LLP RESMI Direct investments for
892,857 thousand tenge.

Compensation of key management personnel

Key management compensation is set at shareholders’ meetings according to human resource
policies, staff schedules, individual labor agreements, shareholders’ resolutions and bonus acerual

orders.

Total compensation paid to the Company's key management personnel (General Director,
Commercial Director, Business Development Manager, Director of the Department of
Organizational Development and Human Resources) during the years ended 31 December 2021 and
2020, amounted to 192,129 thousand Tenge and 142,441 thousand Tenge, respectively. These
short-term compensation represent salaries and bonuses paid to key management personnel.

26. OPERATING SEGMENTS

®  Juices and beverages - production, distribution and sale of beverages under the Compa ny's
brand name, including the juices “Gracio”, “Da-Da”, “Nektar Solnechnyi”, water “A'SU” and
“Piala Ice Tea", “Nektar Solnechniyi Gazirovannyi” and energetic drink “Yeti”; franchise —
production, distribution and sale of products with franchised trademarks, including
carbonated soft drinks “Pepsi”, “Mirinda”, “Seven-Up" and “Lipton Ice Tea";

® Packed tea, packed milk and food products: milk - production, distribution and sale of milk
under the Company’s brand name “Moye”; as well as production, distribution and sale of
weighing and packaged tea under the Company’s brand name “Piala”.
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Packed tea,

Juices and packed milk and

beverages food products  Wholesale activity Total
2021
Revenue 73,460,077 22,897 562 110,631 96,468,270
Finance costs (3,120,290) {975,714} (d4,714) (4,110,718}
Depreciation and amortization 1,761,231 543,977 2652 2,312, 860
Profit before tax 6,079,037 1,894,840 9,155 7,983,032
Incame tax expense (1,099,567) (342,735) (1,656) (1,443,958)
Profit far the year 4,979,470 1,552,105 7,499 6,539,074
2020
Revenue 50,881,777 21,735,471 68,516 72,685,764
Finance costs {2,291,069) (978,688) (2,0886) (3,272,843)
Depreciation and amaortization 1,466,563 626,481 1975 2,085,019
Profit before tax 2,138,493 913,512 2,880 3,054,885
Income tax expense (823,538) {351,795) {1,109} (1,176,442)
Profit for the year 1,314,955 561,717 1,771 1,878,443
Disclosure of other information:

Packed tea,

Juices and packed milk and

beverages food products  Whaolesale activity Total
31 December 2021
Additicns of property, plant and

equipment 2,464,650 911,583 - 3,376,233
31 December 2020
Additions of property, plant and
equipment 1,357,990 580,101 1,829 1,939,920
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Revenue reported above represents revenue generated from third parties. There were no inter-
segment sales during the years ended 31 December 2021 and 2020. The accounting policies of the
reportable segments are the same as the Company's accounting policies described in Note 3.
segment profit represents the profit earned by each segment. This is the measure re ported to the
operating decision makers for the purposes of resource allocation and assessment of segment

performance.
Packed tea,

Juices and packed milk and

beverages food products Wholesale activity Total
31 December 2021
Segment assets 66,637,295 27,365,258 81,263 54,083,816
Segment liabilities 51,284,772 21,060,594 52,541 72,407,907
Deferred income tax liabilities 2,701,867 1,109,548 3,295 3,814,710
Total liabilities 53,986,639 22,170,142 65,836 76,222 617
31 December 2020
Segment assets 56,766,578 24,245,316 76,440 81,092,334
Segment liabilities 38,499,990 16,446,270 51,844 54,998,104
Deferred income tax liabilities 2,882,685 1,231,413 3,882 4,117 981
Tatal llabilities 41,382,676 17,677 683 55,726 59,116,085

For the purposes of monitoring segment performance and allocating resources between segments,
all assets and liabilities are allocated to reportable segments. General corporate assets and assets
used jointly by reportable segments are allocated on the basis of the revenues earned by individual
reportable segments. Liabilities for which reportable segments are jointly liable are allocated in
proportion to segment assets.

The assets of the Company are located in the Republic of Kazakhstan.

Revenue of the Company to external customers by country of their origin is presented below:

Revenue from sales to external

customers

2021 2020
Republic of Kazakhstan 81,445,795 62,719,933
Kyrgyz Republic 11,970,224 7,594,782
Russian Federation 2,915,309 2,298,764
Republic of Urbekistan 88,453 -
Tajikistan 42 788 42,419
China 5,301 28,374
South Korea - 1,452

96,468,270 72,685,764

For the years ended 31 December 2021 and 2020, there were no single external customer with a
revenue that amounted to 10 percent or more of annual revenue of the Company,
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27.

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
Capital management

Businesses in fast-moving consumer goods and food packaging industries are subject to risks
related to rapid changes in markets and customer demands. It is the Company’s policy to maintain
a strong financial position as this provides the best balance of risk and reward for the participants.
The Board of Directors reviews the Company’s capital structure regularly taking into account
available cash balances and credit lines, trends in markets and investment opportunities generally,
but especially in the development of new products to enhance the existing portfolio, and the
development of new distribution channels and geographical markets.

Significant accounting policies

Information regarding significant accounting policies and accepted methods, including recognition
criteria, estimation basis, and basis for gain and losses recognition related to each class of financial
assets, financial liabilities, and securities are disclosed in Mote 3.

General risk management principles

The Company’s overall risk management concept is based on visibility of the key risks preventing
the Company from reaching its business objectives. This covers all risks areas; strategic,
operational, financial, and hazard risks. The Company’s risk management is a systematic and pro-
active process to analyze, review and manage all opportunities, threats and risks related to the
Company’s objectives. In addition to general principles there are specific risk management policies
covering, for example, treasury and customer finance risks.

Categories of financial instruments

As at 31 December 2021 and 2020, financial instruments were as follows:

31 December 31 December

Financial assets 2021 2020
Financial assets at FVTPL:
Other financial assets (Note 15) 4,066,374 32,490,057
Financial assets measured at amortized cost:
Other financial assets (Nate 15) 28,897,737 -
Cash and cash equivalents (Note 17) 5052084 7,137,503
Trade accounts receivable (Note 14) 2,120,470 1,512,670
Other current assets, excluding prepaid expenses and other taxes receivable

(MNote 16) 495,459 426,894
Bank deposits (Mote 18] 1,320,346 671,408
Financial liabilities
Financial liabilities measured at amortized cost:
Borrowings (Note 20) 40,121,855 32,898 444
Accounts payable (Mote 21) 19,031,258 14,056,328
Long-term accounts payable (Note 21) 936,048 869,820
Other accounts payable and accrued liabilities, excluding advances received

{Mote 23) 777,955 571,714
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Market risks

The Company’s activities expose it primarily to the market risks of changes in foreign currency
exchange rates and interest rates.

Foreign currency risk
The Company undertakes transactions denominated in foreign currencies, which lead to exposures
to exchange rate fluctuations. The Company reduced this exposure by increasing assets and

decreasing liabilities in foreign currency.

The carrying value of monetary assets and liabilities of the Company was as follows:

Assets Liabilities
31 December 31 December 31 December 31 December
2021 2020 2021 2020
s Dollars 25,603,241 36,279,228 6,502,541 4,159,490
Russian Ruble 504,353 338,351 11,520,966 6,872,417
Euro Q42 1,244 1,193,893 775
Kyrgyz Soms 5,385 . 69,601 15,837
Chinese yuans - 278,584 659,806
Other 4 5 115 -

Fareign currency sensitivity analysis

The following table details the Company’s sensitivity to a 20% increase and decrease in tenge
against the relevant foreign currencies. 20% is the sensitivity rate used when reporting foreign
currency risk internally to key management personnel and represents management’s assessment of
the reasonably possible change in foreign exchange rates. The sensitivity analysis includes only
outstanding foreign currency denominated monetary items and adjusts their translation at the
period end for a 20% change in foreign currency rates. The sensitivity analysis includes loans where
the denomination of the loan is in a currency other than functional currency of the companies of
the Company. A positive number below indicates an increase in profit and other equity where the
tenge strengthens 20% against the relevant currency. For a 20% weakening of the tenge against the
relevant currency, there would be an equal and opposite impact on the profit and other equity, and
the balances below would be negative.

Impact of US Dollars (i) Impact of Rub (i) impact of Euro (jii}
2021 r. 20207, 2021, 2020r. 2021 r. 2020,
Profit/{loss) before tax 3,820,140 6,423,943 (2,203,323) {1,306,813) {238,550) 94

(i}  This is mainly attributable to the exposure on the Group's cash bank accounts, financial assets given to
Area Plus DMCC, coupon bends of Bank Julius Bir & Co and outstanding accounts payable denominated
in U5 Dollars as at year ended 31 December 2021.

(i}  This is mainly attributable to the exposure on Russian rubles denominated loans as at year end.

(iii}  This is mainly attributable to the exposure on Euro denominated accounts payable as at year end.
Risks in paragraphs (i), (i) and (ill) were not summarized
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Interest rote risk

The Company is exposed to interest rate risk either through market value fluctuations of balance
sheet items (i.e. price risk) or through changes in interest income or expenses (i.e. re-investment
risk). Interest rate risk mainly arises through interest-bearing liabilities and assets. Estimated future
changes in cash flows and balance sheet structure also expose the Company to interest rate risk.

Treasury is responsible for monitoring and managing the interest rate exposure of the Company.
Due to the current balance sheet structure of the Company, emphasis is placed on managing the
interest rate risk in relation to borrowings. In 2021, all the loans of the Company have fixed interest
rates.

Credit risks
Customer Finance Credit Risk

The Company has maintained a financing policy aimed at close cooperation with banks, financial
institutions and other agencies to support distributors and selected customers in their financing of
working capital investments, mainly for purchase of the Company’s products. The Company
monitors closely the extent of the borrowings in relation to the turnover of the key customers.

Credit risks related to the customer financing are systematically analyzed, monitored and managed
by the Company’s Credit Manager, reporting to the Head of Financial Control. Significant changes to
credit risks are approved by the Company’s Credit Committee along principles defined in the
Company's credit policy and according to the credit approval process. The Credit Committee
consists of the Head of Financial Control, Head of Company Treasury and Credit Manager.

As at 31 December 2021, customer credit risk exposure of the Company related to trade accounts
receivable totaled 2,129,998 thousand tenge (31 December 2020: 1,561,722 thousand tenge).

Financial credit risk

Financial instruments contain an element of risk that its counterparties would be unable to meet
their obligations. This risk is measured and monitored by the treasury function. The Company
minimizes financial credit risk by diversifying of financial instruments and monitoring the rating of
large banks and financial institutions.

As of 31 December 2021, the debt of Area Plus DMCC was 20,878,091 thousand tenge (Note 15),
which represent significant concentration of credit risk and constitute 32% from total current assets
of the Company. The Company believes that the debt is recoverable because the Company analyzed
assets and liabilities of Area Plus DMCC presented in the statement of financial position of this
company as at 31 December 2021 and believes that Area Plus DMCC can fulfill its obligations to the
Company on time.

As at 31 December 2021, the Group holds a portfolio of securities, which includes coupon bonds of
Bank Julius Bér & Co and government bonds of the Ministry of Finance of the Republic of
Kazakhstan (Note 15). Rating of bank Julius Bar & Co. is Aa3, according to the rating agency
Moody's. The ratings of other banks in which cash and cash equivalents are placed (Note 17) are
within B2-Aa3.
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Cash and cash equivalents and other financial assets are Stage 1 assets of the impairment stages.

Direct credit risk represents the risk of loss resulting from counterparties’ default in relation to the
items of the statement of financial position. Decision on investments to the fixed income
instruments and short-term debt securities are based on strict creditworthiness criteria. The

outstanding investments are also constantly monitored by the treasury function, The Company
does not expect the counterparties to default given their credit quality. The carrying amount of
financial assets recognized in the financial statements, which is net of impairment losses,
represents the Company’s maximum exposure to credit risk, without taking into account collateral

or other credit enhancements held.

Liguidity risk

The Company guarantees sufficient liquidity at all times by efficient cash management and by
investing in liquid interest bearing securities. Due to the dynamic nature of the underlying business,
Treasury also aims at maintaining flexibility in funding by keeping credit lines available. The credit
facilities are intended to be used for working capital and capital investment funding purposes.

Table on liguidity risk

The following table presents contractual maturity of non-derivative financial assets and liabilities of
the Company based on the undiscounted cash flows of financial assets and liabilities (both interest
and principal cash flows) based on the earliest date on which (a) the Company expects to receive

payments; and (b) the Company can be required to pay.

Weighted
average
interest

31 December 2021 rate
Financial assets:
Trade accounts receivable .

Other financial assets measured at amortized cost 3.2%
Other financial assets measured at FVTPL 0.4%
Other current assets -

Bank deposits 4.2%
Cash and cash equivalents -

Financial liabilities:

Accounts payable =
Long-term Accounts payable 4.1%
Borrowings 7.81%

Other accounts payable and accrued liabilities -

50

Within Over
1 year 1-5 years 5 years Total
2,120,470 - 2,120,470
29,378,091 - - 29,378,091
4,066,374 - - 4,066,374
8,995,459 . £,995,459
1,320,346 - 1,320,246
5,952,084 - 5952084
51,832,824 - 51832824
19,031,258 - 19,031,258
- 1,028,814 - 1,028,214
13,290,943 35,100,395 530,029 48921367
771,955 - . 777,955
33,100,156 36,129,209 530,029 £9,759,394
B e ]
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Weighted

average

interest  Within Over s
31 December 2020 rate 1 year 1-5 years Years Total
Financial assiets:
Trade accounts receivable . 1,512,670 - - 1,512,670
Other financial assets 0.44% 32,490,057 - = 32,490,057
Other current assets = 426,894 - - 426,894
Bank deposits 1.5% 671,408 - - B71,408
Cash and cash equivalents - 7,137,503 - - 7,137,503

42,238,532 . - 42,238,532

Financial liabilities:
Accounts payable - 14,056,328 . 14,056,328
Long-terr Accounts payable 4.1% 1,002,867 = 1,002,867
Borrowings B34% 16,362,125 21,573.419 502,596 38,439,140
Other accounts payable and accrued liabilities . 571,714 - - 571,714

30,990,167 22,576,286 503,596 54,070,049
e e e

The Company has access to funds, as described below, amounting to 16,594,432 thousand tenge as
at 31 December 2021 (31 December 2020: 18,010,643 thousand tenge).

Unsecured short-term berrowings with different maturities til 20232 2021

Amount used 5,434,470

Amount unused 863,988
5,298,458

Secured short-term borrowings with different maturities till 2022
Amount used 5,141,446
Amount unusad -

5,141,446
Unsecured lang-term borrowings with different maturities till 2028
Amount used 15,566,476
Amount unused 285989
16,252 465
Secured long-term borrowings with different maturities till 2028
Amount used 15,740,535
Amount unused 15,444,455
31,184,994

Fair value of financial instruments carried at amortized cost

The estimated fair value of fixed interest rate instruments is based on future cash flows expected to
be received discounted at market rates for new instruments with similar eredit risk and remaining
maturity. Discount rates used depend on credit risk of the counterparty. Carrying amounts of cash
and cash equivalents, bank deposits, receivables, other current assets, borrowings, accounts
payable, long-term accounts payable and other accounts payable and accrued liahilities
approximate fair values due to their short-term maturities and market conditions.

51



LLP RG BRANDS KAZAKHSTAN

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUE D)

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2021
(in thousands of Tenge, unless otherwise stated)

Fair value of the Company’s financial assets that are measured at fair value on a recurring basis

Hierarchy of fair value as at 31 December 2021

Lewvel 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
Financial assets ot
Other financial assets at FVTPL 1,691,474 2,374,900 4,066,374
Totals 1,691,474 2,374,900 4,066,374
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
Other assets
Investment proparty 53,037 53,037
Land, buildings and constructions,
machinery and equipment - 25,206,492 25,206,492
Totals = = 25,259,529 25,259,529
Hierarchy of fair value as at 31 December 2020
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Taotal
Financial assets
Other financial assets at FVTPL 32,490,057 32,450,057
Totals - 32,490,057 - 32,490,057
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
Other assets
Investment property - 53,037 53,037
Land, buildings and constructions,
machinery and equipment - 25839 379 25,839,379
Totals - - 25,892 416 25,892 416
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Valuation technique(s) and key input{s)
Financial ossefs
Level 1: Government bands of the Ministry of Finance of the
Republic of Kazakhstan:
Quoted bid prices in an active market

Level 2: Coupon bonds of Bank Julius Bir & Co-

Quoted prices provided by the issuer Bank Julius Bir & Co in
markets that are not active

Other financial assets

Level 2: Loan given to Area Plus DMOC:

The lower of the discounted cash flows at a discount rate
that corresponds to market rates at the end of the
reporting period and the fair value of the securities
transferred, which is determined based on quoted prices
provided by the issuer Bank Julius Bir & Co in markets that
are not active

Other assets

Level 3: Cost approach and market for similar or comparable
assets, adjusted for differences with the assets under
valuation. Adjustment of the prices of similar or
comparable assets requires analysis of such factors as
location, size, functional use and condition of the asset.

Imvestment property

Level 3: The valuation, which conforms te Internatianal
Valuation Standards, was determined by reference to [E]]
the cost approach and (b) the market for similar or
Land and buildings, machinery and equipment comparable assets, adjusted for differences with the asset
under valuation. Discounted cash flow (DCF) methad to
check for the economic depreciation of the Company’s
assets as a Cash Generating Unit was performed.

Hazard risk

The Company strives to ensure that all financial, reputation, and other losses of the Company and
its customers are minimized through preventive risk management measures or purchase of
insurance. Insurance is purchased for risks, which cannot be internally managed. The Company’s
Economic Security function's objective is to ensure that Company’s hazard risks, whether related to
physical assets (e.g. buildings) or intellectual assets {e.g. “RG Brands"” brand) or potential liabilities
(e.g. product liability) are properly insured.

28. COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES
Operating environment

Emerging markets such as Kazakhstan are subject to different risks than more developed markets,
including economic, political and social, and legal and legislative risks. Laws and regulations
affecting businesses in Kazakhstan continue to change rapidly, tax and regulatory frameworks are
subject to varying interpretations. The future economic direction of Kazakhstan is heavily
influenced by the fiscal and monetary policies adopted by the government, together with
developments in the legal, regulatory, and political environment,
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Because Kazakhstan produces and exports large volumes of oil and gas, its economy is particularly
sensitive to the price of oil and gas on the world market. In March 2020 oil prices dropped for more
than 40%, which resulted in immediate weakening of Kazakhstani tenge against major currencies.

In addition to that, starting from early 2021 a new coronavirus disease (COVID-19) has begun
rapidly spreading all over the world resulting in announcement of the pandemic status by the
World Health Organization in March 2020. Responses put in place by many countries to contain the
spread of COVID-19 are resulting in significant operational disruption for many companies and have
significant impact on global financial markets. As the situation is rapidly evolving it may have a
significant effect on business of many com panies across a wide range of sectors, including, but not
limited to such impacts as disruption of business operations as a result of interruption of
preduction or closure of facilities, supply chain disruptions, quarantines of personnel, reduced
demand and difficulties in raising financing. In addition, the Company may face the increasingly
broad effects of COVID-19 as a result of its negative impact on the global economy and major
financial markets. The significance of the effect of COVID-19 on the Company’s business largely
depends on the duration and the incidence of the pandemic effects on the world and Kazakhstan
economy.

Since the main activity of the Company is related to the food industry, the Company did not stop its
activities during the spread of COVID-19. These events did not have a significant negative impact on
the operations and financial performance of the Company.

Management of the Company is monitoring developments in the current environment and taking
measures it considered necessary in order to support the sustainability and development of the
Company’s business in the foreseeable future. However, the impact of further economic
developments on future operations and the financial position of the Company is at this stage
difficult to determine.

Tax and regulatory environment

The government of the Republic of Kazakhstan continues to reform the business and commercial
infrastructure in its transition to a market economy. As a result, laws and regulations affecting
businesses continue to change rapidly. These changes are characterized by poor drafting, different
interpretations and arbitrary application by the authaorities.

The tax period remains open for audit by tax authorities within five calendar years; however, in
certain conditions, the tax period may be extended. Consequently, the Company may be subject to
additional tax liabilities, which may arise as a result of tax audits. The Company believes it has
provided adequately for all tax liabilities based on its understanding of the tax legislation.

In February 2022, the tax authorities of the Republic of Kazakhstan completed a comprehensive tax
audit for 2016-2020, as a result of which additional corporate income tax in the amount of

849,118 thousand tenge and a penalty in the amount of 679,296 thousand tenge were accrued.
This additional accrual of corporate income tax was recognized in the Company's financial
statements for 2020, but was not reflected in the final tax return due to technical problems in the
system of the tax authorities and the lack of proper software for filling out the corporate income
tax return. The Company has made sufficient advance for this carporate income tax on time. As a
result, the Company is disputing the decision of the tax audit on this issue in court. The
management of the Company believes that the payment of this penalty is possible; therefore, the
Company did not accrue a provision for the penalty.
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Compliance with loan covenants

Some of the Company's loan agreements are subject to covenant clauses, whereby the Group is
required to meet certain key performance indicators. The Group complied with all covenants of
loan agreements with lenders as at 31 December 2021,

Legal issues

The Company has been and continues to be the su bject of legal proceedings and adjudications from
time to time, none of which have had, individually or in the aggregate, a material adverse impact on
the Company. Management believes that the resolution of all such matters will not have a material
impact on the Company’s statement of financial position or operating results.

EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING DATE

At the start of January 2022, Kazakhstan witnessed mass protests, which turned into unrest.

On 5 January, the President introduced a state of emergency across the country, which was in place
until 19 January. During the mass protests internet access was restricted across Kazakhstan, bank
operations and transactions were suspended, stock and commodity exchanges were closed, and
flights were cancelled, resulting in businesses being unable to function effectively.

The situation in Kazakhstan stabilised and was under the control of the authorities by 15 January.
The government is focusing on addressing the political and socio-economic situation.

In February 2022, tenge depreciated significantly against major foreign currencies amid the external
geopolitical situation. In order to reduce the negative impact of external factors on the Kazakhstani
economy, the National Bank of the Republic of Kazakhstan ("NBK") raised the base rate from
10.25% to 13.5% per annum with a corridor of +/- 1.0 p.p., and interventions on the currency
market were performed to support tenge exchange rate against foreign currencies. However, there
is uncertainty exists related to the future development of the geopolitical risks and their impact on
the economy of the Republic of Kazakhstan.

These events did not have a material impact on the Company's operating activities and its financial
statements.

Management of the Company is monito ring developments in the economic and political situation
and taking measures it considers necessary in order to support the sustainability and development
of the Company’s business for the foreseeable future. However, the consequences of these avents
and related future changes may have a significant impact on the Company’s operations.

In February 2022, RG Brands Holding Limited, a company under common control of the main
shareholder of RG Brands JSC Mazhibayev K.K., registered on November 2021 on Dubai
International Financial Center (DIFC), purchased shares from RG Brands JSC in the amount of
1,865,466 shares and from Mazhibayev K.K in the amount of 1,519,771 shares. As a result, the
share of RG Brands Holding Limited in RG Brands JSC amounted to 98%. The parent company of
RG Brands Holding Limited is Area Plus DMCC. The ultimate owner of Area Plus DMCC is
Mazhibaev K.K.
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In 2022, Company authorized dividends based on the results of 2006-2008, 2010, 2011, 2013-2016
and 2018-2020 in the amount of 4,208,880 thousand tenge.

On 28 January 2022 Company Area Plus DMCC fully fulfilled its obligations and repaid the debt to
the Company in the amount of 50,199 thousand USD (equivalent to 21,761,162 thousand tenge)
(Note 15). For the period from 31 January 2022 till 28 February 2022 the Company provided
financial asset to Area Plus DMCC by three tranches in the amount of 60,640 thousand USD. In
March and April 2022, Area Plus DMCC made a partial repayment of debt related to this financial
asset in the amount of 21,494 thousand USD.

30. APPROVAL OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

These financial statements were approved and authorized for issue by the Company’s management
on 5 May 2022,
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